#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALWIN C. TUMBLIN,	)	
Appellant,	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. SC07-2111
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	)	
	) )	

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For St. Lucie County
[Criminal Division].

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor
421 3rd Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

Paul E. Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438 Counsel for Appellant

#

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

An indictment charged Alwin C. Tumblin, appellant, and his co-defendant, Anthony Mayes, with first degree murder and armed robbery. R1 1-3. (Appellant was also charged with possession of a firearm by convicted felon, but that offense was severed and eventually nolle prossed. R27 4006.) Mayes pled guilty to the lesser included offenses of second degree murder and attempted robbery, and he agreed to testify against appellant. T80 4652. Appellant proceeded to jury trial.

Appellant's first trial ended in mistrial because of a state discovery violation. T44 418; T56 1952. At his second trial, a jury convicted him of first degree murder and armed robbery, R15 2254-55, and recommended a death sentence by a 12-0 vote. R16 2324. The court entered judgment and sentence, including a death sentence for the murder. R27 3996-4001; R28 4007-56. He appeals.

The victim, Jimmy Johns, owned Jimmy's Auto Clinic in Ft. Pierce. T37 3808. He employed Patricia Sanders (his stepdaughter), and two mechanics. T73 3809. On May 24, 2004, Sanders and the mechanics went to lunch, leaving Johns alone at the shop. T73 3811-12. When the mechanics returned shortly before one, they found Johns's body in a service bay. T73 3841-43. He had been shot in the head at close–but not contact–range. T81 4864-66, 4870.

Elizabeth Hobson, who worked across the street, heard a shot at 12:50 and saw Johns lying on the floor of his garage. T73 3911-12. Two men left the shop;

the younger man<sup>1</sup> had a white or yellow towel in his hand; he looked at Hobson, and ran into the neighborhood. T73 3912-13, 3915-16. A minute later the other man got into a yellow car that looked like a retired taxicab. T73 3913. Hobson had her manager call 911. T73 3914.

Susan Ooley saw a yellow taxicab-like car parked near the shop in an area where cars don't usually park. T73 3896. The yellow car left, and Ooley saw a man running away. T73 3896. The man who ran away was short, stocky, and wearing a plaid button-up shirt. T73 3897.

Jason Vega drove past Johns's shop and saw police out front. T73 3918. He stopped and asked what happened. T73 3918. Officers told him Johns had been killed and they were looking for a yellow taxicab-like car. T73 3918.

Vega drove around the area and saw a yellow Buick that he thought fit the description. T73 3919. He called 911 and reported the tag number. T73 3920. A police helicopter came overhead, and Vega left the area. T73 3928.

The helicopter pilot, Wade Hatcher, also saw a yellow taxicab-like car; but it was parked behind a house on 14th Street, and he dispatched officers to that location. T73 3936. When officers stopped the yellow Buick that Vega was following, Hatcher returned to 14th Street. T73 3936.

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Co-defendant Mayes was 23 at the time of the offense; appellant was 27. T80 4651; T86 5344; R27 3977.

Officer Dwight Toombs stopped the yellow Buick. T74 3949-50. There were three people in the car. T74 3950-51. Rhonda Tumblin (appellant's half-sister, hereafter referred to as "Rhonda") was driving. T74 3950-51. Officer Toombs got Rhonda's home address—it was on 14th Street—and he let them go. T74 3951. But a short time later, Officer Toombs heard the same address over the radio—this was the address at which Hatcher had seen the other yellow taxicab-like car. T74 3954.

Ten to fifteen minutes later, Officer Toombs saw Rhonda turn into an Amoco station, and he stopped the car again. T74 3955. The other two people in the car were appellant and Theresa York. T77 4287. The three were taken to the police department. T77 4288.

Ooley was taken to the Amoco station and asked if she could identify the car Rhonda was driving; she said it was *not* the car she had seen leave the shop. T73 3898. Next she was taken to Rhonda's house on 14th Street, where she identified the car parked behind the house as the yellow taxicab-like car that she had seen leave the shop. T73 3903-04.

Officer Sally Hurley was the officer initially dispatched to Rhonda's house on 14th Street. T76 4159-60. The yellow taxicab-like car was in the backyard. T76 4160. Officer Hurley touched the hood: it was hotter than the rest of the car, suggesting that it had been driven recently. T76 4161.

Officer Kathleen Murphy arrived at about the same time as Hurley. T76 4166. She put up crime scene tape and watched the house while officers obtained a search warrant. T76 4168-69. Witnesses told her that a black female named Nickie had just jumped out of the window and fled. T76 4169. Murphy reported this to 911. T76 4169.

In the back bedroom of the house, officers found a .32 caliber revolver under some clothes on a chair; and under a pillow on the bed were four Remington-Peters bullets. T74 3984-85; T76 4268-69, 4271. The firearms examiner testified that the bullet retrieved from Johns's body was fired from the revolver found in Rhonda's house, and that the empty Remington-Peters cartridge found at the garage was ejected from it. T74 3998-4008, 4014-15, 4025; T81 4855-58.<sup>2</sup> He also said that there was a problem with the revolver: the cylinder does not stay closed, and so the examiner, when he test-fired the gun, held the cylinder in place to make sure that the chamber was lined up. T81 4842, 4860.

The black female seen fleeing from Rhonda's house was Jean Nicole Ruth and she testified for the State. T76 4171. Known as "Nickie," she lived next door to Rhonda. T76 4173. At the time of her testimony, she had been convicted of one felony and one crime of dishonesty, and she was on probation. T76 4172-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There was also an unspent Remington Peters bullet found at the scene. T74 4008; T77 4289.

According to Ruth, appellant's girlfriend is Theresa York; and appellant and York used the yellow taxicab-like car (a Grand Marquis) that was parked behind Rhonda's house. T76 4175-76. Ruth owned the yellow Buick; this was the car that Rhonda, appellant, and York were stopped in. T76 4175.

A few days before Johns was killed, Ruth heard appellant (known as "Man") tell York on the phone to bring some clothes and his "piece," i.e., gun. T76 4178.

On the morning of May 24, 2004, Ruth went next door to Rhonda's house, and Rhonda, Mayes (known as "Head"), and appellant were there. T76 4176. Ruth and Rhonda smoked marijuana; Mayes also may have. T76 4177.

Appellant and York left in the Grand Marquis, and they returned with food. T76 4179. At some point, appellant and Mayes went to the back of the house, and then left in the Grand Marquis. T76 4180-81.

Appellant returned to the house alone. T76 4181. He drove up quickly, left the car running, and told York to park it; she parked the car behind the house. T76 4182. Appellant was sweating and acted like something was wrong. T76 4182. He said, "The cracker dead and Head ran." T76 4183. (Later, the prosecutor changed the quote and asked Ruth, "Do you see the person in the courtroom who said, 'I shot the cracker and Head ran'?" T76 4194. She answered, "Yes," and pointed to appellant. T76 4194.)

Ruth testified that when appellant went down the hall, it sounded like he dropped something. T76 4183. And when he came back, he was "just looking crazy, pretty much." T76 4184. He had money as well as papers and envelopes.<sup>3</sup> T76 4185-86. York and Rhonda opened the envelopes, ripped them up, and took them outside. T76 4185-86. Ruth thought Rhonda burned the checks in a pan that she had taken outside with her. T76 4228-29, 4234.

Rhonda asked Ruth if she could use the yellow Buick and Ruth agreed. T76 4187. Appellant said that he needed the car to look for Mayes. T76 4191. While Ruth was in the bathroom, Rhonda, York, and appellant left. T76 4191.

Ruth saw the police at the house later; because she had a warrant for her arrest, she fled through the side window. T76 4193.

Ruth testified that she violated her probation. T76 4195. She said that she had been upset at the prospect of jail for this violation, but the net result of it was an extension of probation for a few months. T76 4195. She acknowledged that when she gave a statement at the county jail on July 7, 2004, a detective said he would help her if she gave him the information that he needed. T76 4198.

delivered. T73 3810-11.

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sanders testified that Johns usually had four to five hundred dollars in his pocket. T73 3809. Sanders also testified that she had set out the mail for pickup; it was put on a clip in the office. She later learned that this mail–mostly bills–had not been

On cross-examination, Ruth revealed that she had "just got shot," needed her medicine, and was hurting. T76 4201. Defense counsel approached the bench and expressed surprise at this testimony (at T76 4201):

MR. AKINS [defense counsel]: What is this?

MS. PARK [prosecutor]: She was shot.

MR. AKINS: So was somebody going to tell somebody about it?

MS. PARK: Well, it had nothing to do with this.

MR. AKINS: Your Honor, I move for mistrial.

The jury was excused, and the trial court questioned Ruth. T76 4201. She said she had been taking hydrocodone and needed another dose because she was in pain. T76 4202. She left the courtroom to take the hydrocodone. T76 4208. As discussed more fully in <u>Point III</u>, the trial court eventually denied appellant's motion for mistrial. T76 4218.

Rhonda testified for the state. She had twice been convicted of a felony. T78 4462. She said appellant and York spent the night before the murder at her house and that they slept in the bedroom in which the gun and bullets were later found. T78 4494; T76 4268-69, 4271. Rhonda said she had previously seen appellant with this gun on May 8, 2004, at a party for her father. T79 4627. She acknowledged that she told Detective Coleman on July 2, 2004, that she had never seen the gun before. T79 4634.

On the morning of the offense, Ruth and Mayes came over. T78 4467. Rhonda, Ruth, and Mayes smoked marijuana. T78 4474. At one point, York made a phone call and appellant said she was talking too much. T78 4481.

York and appellant left for about 45 minutes. T78 4487. Rhonda went down the street to see a Haitian friend who gave her \$100 for her daughter's eighth grade graduation dance. T78 4487.

Appellant and Mayes left in the Grand Marquis (the taxicab-like car). T78 4487. Meanwhile, Rhonda went to a liquor store to cash child support checks. T78 4490-91. When she returned, she saw York had envelopes. T78 4493. York got a pan and went outside. T78 4494. Rhonda identified in a photograph the pan that York went outside with; the pan had burnt papers in it. T78 4506.

Rhonda left in Ruth's car to go to her aunt's house. T78 4495. She first stopped at a store to get transmission fluid; after that, she picked up appellant and York who were walking on Orange Avenue. T78 4495.<sup>4</sup>

In the car, appellant was nervous and jittery; there were numerous police officers around and a helicopter overhead. T78 4498, 4500. According to Rhonda, appellant said, "The cracker must be dead." T78 4500. At one point, Rhonda started to stop at a gas station and appellant hit the back of her seat and said, "Don't stop. Keep going. Why you stopping?" T79 4605-06.

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In this regard, Rhonda's testimony differs from Ruth's. Ruth said appellant, Rhonda, and York left in her car while she was in the bathroom. T76 4191.

Rhonda testified that she was stopped by the police the first time at her aunt's house. T78 4499. She was stopped the second time at the gas station; appellant and York were taken into custody. T78 4500.

Rhonda was taken to the police department and she spoke to detectives. T78 4503. When she was interviewed, she didn't tell the detectives that appellant was her brother; she referred to appellant by his nickname and to York as "that girl." T78 4506-07, 4528. She told the police that she didn't know the pregnant woman who ran out of her house (though she knew it was Ruth); and she told the police that she didn't know whose car was parked behind her house. T79 4591, 4584. She said that she was less than forthcoming because she was scared. T78 4506-07.

Rhonda testified that she had approximately \$270 with her when she was stopped by police. T79 4578. She said that she received \$100 from her Haitian friend and \$174 from child support checks, and said she did not try to hide the fact that she had money. T79 4578, 4607. She acknowledged that she had received an eviction notice the day of the robbery and that the next day she paid the rent (with, she said, her mother's help). T78 4464-65; T79 4576.

Anthony Mayes testified that he was 23 when Johns was killed. T80 4651. He is a convicted felon. T80 4651-52. He was arrested July 9, 2004, and charged with first degree murder and armed robbery of Johns. He agreed to plead guilty to

second degree murder and attempted robbery, testify truthfully, and receive a maximum sentence of 20 years in state prison. T80 4652.

On May 24, 2004, Mayes went to Rhonda's house. Mayes was living on the street at the time, and sometimes he slept in a car in front of Rhonda's house. T80 4654. Appellant and York also stayed at Rhonda's from time to time. T80 4654. Appellant and York both drove the Grand Marquis, though York drove it more than appellant. T80 4655-56.

Mayes, appellant, York, Rhonda, and Ruth were at the house. T80 4657. Appellant asked York to call Walmart about bullets, and she made a call. T80 4657. Appellant and York left. T80 4658.

When appellant returned, he spoke to Mayes at the back of the house, "boosting" him to do the robbery, which they had discussed before. T80 4659. Mayes said he agreed to be the lookout and he was to get \$300. T80 4660. Appellant didn't tell him who would be robbed or where it would occur. *Id*.

Appellant and Mayes left the house between 11 and 12. T80 4660. Appellant was wearing a black T-shirt with a white T-shirt underneath it; blue jean shorts with black sneakers; and a black baseball cap. T80 4660. Mayes was wearing a plaid, button-down shirt with black shorts. T80 4661.

Appellant drove the Grand Marquis; he had a gun and he put it under the seat. T80 4661. Mayes testified that appellant said, "he was gonna kill everybody that exists as if whoever is in there." T80 4662.

Appellant pulled up to the auto shop, and they both went inside. T80 4662-63. Neither had a mask. T80 4662. Johns was on the phone. T80 4663. Appellant asked about a car part, and then he asked Johns where the money was. T80 4663-65. Johns took the money out of his pocket and appellant took it. T80 4665.

After taking the money, appellant reached into his back pocket and took out the gun. T80 4665. Mayes said appellant put the gun, which was wrapped in a white rag, to Johns's head, said, "what you think about this?" and then shot him, and Johns fell bleeding. T80 4666-67. As Mayes ran away he saw appellant heading toward the office. T80 4666.

On cross-examination, Mayes testified that he was charged with first degree murder and armed robbery and that he understood that he could be sentenced to life imprisonment on either offense. T80 4671-72. He was also charged in a separate case with failure to register as a sex offender for which he could receive five years in prison. T80 3671-72. He understood that if he testified differently than the prosecutor expected, the plea agreement would be rescinded. T80 4675.

Mayes admitted that his trial testimony about the rag around the gun was the first time he had mentioned this: he did not mention it in his deposition or any prior

statement. T80 4676. He acknowledged that in his August 30 statement he said that appellant stated, "that if anybody resists him, resists over there, I'm gonna kill them." T80 4709. Asked if he decided to change "resists" to "exists," Mayes said that he didn't know what either word meant. 5 T80 4710.

Leona Fair, the Fort Pierce Walmart Manager, pulled a receipt from May 24, 2004, that showed that someone with the date of birth of November 11, 1981, purchased .32 caliber Remington ammunition, and that there were no other sales of Remington ammunition that day. T80 4744, 4750-51, 4757. Theresa York's driving record was admitted into evidence, and it showed that her date of birth is November 11, 1981. T80 4773.

Lieutenant Dennis Smith, a 19 year veteran of the St. Lucie County Sheriff's Office, testified that Mayes was a suspect and that on July 9, 2004, he went to Mayes's grandmother's house looking for him. T80 4775-77. Mayes wasn't there, but Lieutenant Smith, who was with Investigator Hamrick and an ATF agent, saw Mayes on 13th and D Street. T80 4777. Smith handcuffed Mayes. T80 4777.

Mayes started talking, and he only wanted to talk to Lieutenant Smith. T80 4777-78. Smith interviewed him before Investigator Hamrick took his taped statement. T80 4779. Smith explained: "And Mr. -- Mr. Mayes kept wanting to talk, so he was Mirandized, and I -- I kind of let him talk and hit the highlights of

12

Mayes testified that he was "SLD." T80 4710. In closing argument, the prosecutor interpreted this to mean "slow learning deficit." T83 5037.

what he had to say. I did not want to get into a lot of details because I'm not the case agent, and I wanted him to do all that with the case agent." T80 4779.

When the State asked Smith what Mayes told him, defense counsel made a hearsay objection. T80 4780. The State argued that the defense cross examination of Mayes implied that "the reason Mayes gave a statement was because Dennis Smith told him what to say at the beginning of that interview." T80 4780.

Defense counsel argued that he was merely putting before the jury what actually happened: in Mayes's presence, Smith told Investigator Hamrick and Detective Coleman what Mayes had told him. T80 4780. Counsel further argued that there was no suggestion of recent fabrication as Mayes had been "consistently fabricating ... throughout the entire course of the investigation." T80 4780. The court overruled the objection, and Smith's testimony continued (at T80 4781-82):

Q. Lieutenant, go ahead, what did Mr. Mayes tell you?

A. He told me about being at a house, I believe, on 14th Street earlier in the day, the day of the homicide with the subject he referred to as Man. He told me that Man was -- he used the term "boosting". I understood that to mean encouraging, persuading him to go do a robbery with Man. That Man and his girlfriend went to Wal-Mart to get a box of ammunition, that they called there first. That Man promised him \$300 from the proceeds of the robbery. That he told him that -- that Man told him that if the victim bucked, meaning if he resists or bucked up, that he was gonna cap him. And -- O. Go ahead.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The cross-examination of Mayes that the state was referring to is at T80 4677-78, and is discussed in Point I.

- A. And that they went to do the robbery. That he saw Man shoot the victim in the head, told us approximately how far away he was when that occurred.
- Q. How far away who was?
- A. Mayes. How far away -- he told us approximately how far away Mayes was and how far away from the victim Man was when he fired the shot.
- Q. How close did he say Man was to the victim when he shot him?
- A. As I recall, he -- he -- very close. I think he said he may have even stuck the gun to his head.
- Q. Did you then recount that -- or summarize that statement that he gave you to Detective Coleman and Investigator Hamrick when they returned?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you -- when you recounted his version, did you add anything or suggest anything he should say in the future?
- A. Only -- no -- nothing in particular that he should say. I did assure Detective Coleman in front of Mayes that I felt like Mayes would -- would tell him the truth.

When Smith testified that "I did assure Detective Coleman in front of Mayes that I felt like Mayes would -- would tell him the truth," defense counsel asked to approach the bench. T80 4781. At side bar, he objected to the opinion testimony of a law enforcement officer as to the truth or veracity of a witness. T80 4782. The court sustained the objection and agreed to give a curative instruction. T80 4783. Defense counsel accepted a curative instruction but asserted that a curative instruction would not be sufficient. T80 4782. He also moved for a mistrial, citing *Acosta v. State*, 798 So.2d 809 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). The court reserved ruling on the mistrial until it had read *Acosta*, and told the jury that it was "granting the

motion to strike the witness's last response." T80 4784. It eventually denied the mistrial as discussed more fully in <u>Point II</u>. T82 4963.

#### **Penalty Phase**

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