IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-2111

ALWIN C. TUMBLIN Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

WILLIAM McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Lisa-Marie Lerner Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 698271

Leslie Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108 Counsel for Appellee

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

Furthermore, Smith made an isolated statement which the court struck. As the court noted, Smith did not have an unvarnished reputation given his "moniker

of Gang of One" and where he testified in civilian clothes. Mayes admitted his involvement in the robbery and the shooting from his first contact with the police. The defense vigorously impeached him with his inconsistent statements and his plea deal. [T:4973] Given that, the trial court found that one person's opinion of Mayes would not reasonably affect the jurors' independent assessment of him. [T:4973-4] This situation is quite different from that in Acosta where the lead detective not only vouched for the only witness fingering the defendant but tailored the entire investigation on his belief in her truthfulness. The court here specifically instructed the jury that they were the only arbiters of the credibility of the witnesses. It also noted that in voir dire the jurors had agreed not to give more weight to police testimony than to other testimony. [T:4972-4] It is presumed the jury follows the court's instruction. Crain v. State, 894 So.2d 59, 70 (Fla. 2004). The jury's verdict was not reasonably tainted by this isolated comment.

A similar situation to the one presented in this trial occurred in <u>Salazar v.</u> <u>State</u>, 991 So.2d 364 (Fla. 2008). There a detective commented that he was trying to find the truth in his investigation. This Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial or even the objection. It noted that the detective did not claim to have found the truth, as the officer in <u>Acosta</u> did. <u>Id.</u> 991 So.2d at 372-4. Smith did not opine to the jury that he believed Mayes, only that he hoped Mayes would tell the truth to Coleman. Importantly, he did not say that Mayes had told him the truth either, as the officer in <u>Acosta</u> did. Smith also did not say that Mayes was a truthful person. <u>Cf. Whitted v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 668 (Fla.1978) (holding that it was error to allow evidence of a witness's good character for veracity unless it has been impeached but declining to express an opinion as to whether error was reversible).

This trial court's assessment of the evidence was correct when it determined that this comment, which was stricken, did not undermine the validity of the trial given the other evidence of Tumblin's guilt. Its decision to deny a mistrial was proper and not an abuse of discretion. This Court should deny this claim.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED AN ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS. (restated)

Tumblin next contends that the trial court failed to conduct a <u>Richardson⁵</u> hearing for an alleged discovery violation and, thus, committed reversible error. He argues that the State improperly failed to disclose that Nikki had been a victim of a shooting and was taking hydrocodone at the time she testified. He further argues that the failure prejudiced him because the jury might feel sympathy for her, that his ability to inquire and impeach her were affected, and that she might have been

⁵<u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971).

incompetent or adversely affected. The State asserts that this was not a discovery violation, the trial court conducted an adequate <u>Richardson</u> inquiry, and that the defense suffered no prejudice from this development. This Court should deny relief.

The State submits that this was not a discovery violation since the information the witness was shot and on pain medication had no exculpatory value. However, given the history of this particular case, the trial court determined that the State should have disclosed medication use to the defense. Upon inquiry from the court and the defense, Nikki said that she had just disclosed the medication information that morning and suffered no ill effects from it.

THE COURT: Ms. Ruth, is there -- how are you feeling now physically? THE WITNESS: I feel fine. THE COURT: Okay. How long ago did you get injured that required these medications? THE WITNESS: I got shot on the 21st. THE COURT: 21st of May? THE WITNESS: Yes -- yeah, 21st. THE COURT: Where were you shot? THE WITNESS: I got shot in my leg, and it traveled to my stomach. I had surgery on my stomach. THE COURT: Okay. Are you going to be all right for the rest of this afternoon on the medication dose you just took? THE WITNESS: I'm going to be fine, sir. THE COURT: All right. Do you feel as though you're in any way dizzy or nauseous, or is there anything about your -- how you're feeling psychologically right now that should make us feel concerned about your ability to testify? THE WITNESS: No, sir. THE COURT: Ready to finish answering questions? THE WITNESS: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: Any questions from anybody?

MR. AKINS: Yes, sir.

PROFFERED EXAMINATION

BY MR. AKINS: Q. You obviously let Ms. Park know you'd been shot?

A. Huh?

- Q. Ms. Park, the lady sitting right here.
- A. She didn't know until I got here.
- Q. She didn't know until you got here?
- A. To Fort Pierce.

Q. Did you ask her "What do I do if I, you know, if I'm hurting and I need medication?"

A. I was gonna take medication when I was out on the bench, but I didn't take it because I thought I would be fine. But by me having a nerve messed up in my leg, by me sitting in one spot a long time, that's when it started bothering me.

Q. My question to you was, did you ask Ms. Park or -- I don't know if you're dealing with a victim's advocate. I don't know who you're dealing with. But did you ask anybody, you know, "If I need to take my medication, what should I do?"

A. I didn't think it was a problem. I ain't think I was gonna be in this predicament to ask somebody, so no, I did not ask somebody.

Q. You didn't think you were gonna be a witness in the case?

A. I knew I was gonna be a witness to my (sic) case, but I didn't know as to me sitting on the stand I would be in pain to take medication, I didn't know that.

Q. When you were being prepared for your testimony, did anyone suggest to you that there might be things you shouldn't say and to use caution?

A. Use caution for me needing medication?

Q. As to what to say in front of this jury.

A. That's why I was trying to speak to someone else and then you tried to put me on the spot.

Q. Well, do you think that's what you're supposed to do is -- how about advise the Court you need a break? Doesn't that make sense?

A. That's what I was trying to do. That's what I really was trying to do, wasn't I? I was really trying to, "Excuse me, um, what do I need to do?" I said, "I need my medication." Right, ma'am?

DEPUTY FOLBRECHT: I didn't hear anything.

THE WITNESS: I was whispering to these people, "I need somebody

--" you know, what I'm saying? "I need attention." But you put me on the spot so I went ahead and told everybody what I need to do. I'm not going to lie.

BY MR. AKINS: Q. Back to the question I asked you. You had medication. You thought you might need medication?

A. I need medication. I know I need medication.

Q. Did you ask anyone prior to taking the stand, "Hey, if I get in a problem, what do I do"?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. Okay. Did you tell them you're on medication?

A. This morning I did, yes.

Q. Okay.

THE COURT: Anything else?

MR. AKINS: Not of this witness.

THE COURT: All right, motion for mistrial is denied. This witness can continue to testify. I find she's competent and capable to go forward. You can make any issue of it if you like. Do you all need a break before we bring the jury back in?

[T:4213-16]

Given the colloquy the court had with the State, the defense, and Nikki's testimony, it covered the necessary areas specified in <u>Richardson</u>. It found that there was a discovery violation regarding Nikki's potential competence as a witness, although the State had just learned of the information just before she testified. The State did not intentionally withhold information it knew to be discoverable; rather, the State did not consider the information relevant to the facts at trial and certainly not exculpatory. [T:4201-2] With no evidence to the contrary, the court accepted the State's response. "I haven't seen any official misconduct here. ... You know, a witness in the case said something that does not prejudice the Defendant in any way." [T:4206] Furthermore, since the court found Nikki

competent to testify, any violation was indeed trivial and did not affect her testimony or Tumblin's ability to cross-examine her.

The court conducted an adequate hearing in accordance with <u>Richardson</u> by considering whether there was a discovery violation which was inadvertent or willful, whether it was trivial or substantial, and whether it affected Tumblin's ability to prepare his case. <u>Richardson</u>, 246 So.2d at 775. A court has broad discretion in determining whether a defendant was prejudiced and in determining what measure would best remedy the situation. <u>See State v. Tascarella</u>, 586 So.2d 154, 157 (Fla. 1991); <u>Lowery v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 657, 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Poe v. State</u>, 431 So.2d 266, 268 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989). The court has discretion to determine if a violation would result in harm or prejudice to the defendant. <u>See Barrett v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 219, 222 (Fla. 1994). The court found the discovery violation to be inadvertent, trivial to the issues at trial, and did not prejudice the defense. The court did not abuse its discretion.

The court also properly found that Nikki was competent to testify. She informed the court that she felt no psychological effects from the pain medication nor was she in incapacitating pain if she took her medication when needed. She was oriented and responded appropriately to all the questions posed to her. Her simple affirmative response when the State reworded her quote of Tumblin's statement is not evidence of incompetence; she answered that Tumblin was in the courtroom which was the essence of the question. The competency of a witness to testify is a determination left to the sound discretion of the trial court, and absent an abuse of discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed. Baker v. State, 674 So.2d 199 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Hawk v. State, 718 So.2d 159 (1998). It is within the sound discretion of the trial judge to determine the competence of a witness to testify. Simmons v. State, 683 So.2d 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Baker, supra; State v. Green, 733 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). A witness is incompetent to testify if the trial court determines the witness is: (1) unable to communicate to the jury; (2) unable to understand the duty to tell the truth; or (3) unable to perceive and remember events, and a witness is presumed competent to testify until the contrary is established. Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So.2d 637 (Fla.2000); McCoy v. State, 853 So.2d 396 (Fla.2003). The court did not abuse its discretion in making this finding given Nikki's behavior and responses.

Since the court conducted a proper <u>Richardson</u> hearing, this Court merely reviews for abuse of discretion, not the standard of "presumed prejudice" noted in <u>Cox v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 705, 712 (Fla. 2002) and <u>State v. Schopp</u>, 653 So.2d 1016, 1020 (Fla. 1995) where there was a violation and no <u>Richardson</u> hearing conducted. However, if this Court finds error, it is harmless under <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). The lack of information could not have affected Tumblin's strategy either at trial or with this witness. Nikki's

shooting was unconnected with Tumblin and the jury was so informed. There was absolutely nothing tying him to that incident. Additionally, defense counsel had the information about the shooting before he finished cross examining her. He asked for and was granted a brief continuance. [T:4216] If he wished to question her or argue about any potential bias she had to people who shot others, he certainly could have done so, which he did not do. He also could have pursued impeaching her with her medication or pain since the jury was aware of both and the court allowed it. [T:4201, 4205-6] A medical professional could only give general information about the effect of the drug. The actual effect, if any, was observable by the jury and counsel and known by Nikki who could have been, and was, questioned. There was no prejudice since these areas of questioning and argument were available to the defense during the trial. This Court should deny relief and affirm.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON AND THEN FOUND THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

Tumblin next asserts that the trial court erred in finding the aggravator that the killing was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated ("CCP") manner. He argues that the killing: was spontaneously done without reflection; was an unplanned, impulsive act; and did not have the necessary heightened premeditation. The State disagrees and submits that the CCP aggravator was supported by substantial, competent evidence. This court should affirm.

Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding analyzed under the competent, substantial evidence standard of review. In reviewing challenges to the finding of an aggravator in a capital murder case, this Court must determine whether there is substantial, competent record evidence to support the found aggravator. See, Hildwin v. State, 727 So. 2d 193, 196 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 856 (1999); Gordon v. State, 704 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1997); Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996). It "is not [the Florida Supreme] Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt—that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding." Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997)); Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167, 191 (Fla. 2005). Competent substantial evidence is tantamount to legally sufficient evidence, and the Court assesses the record evidence for its sufficiency only, not its weight. Almeida v. State, 748 So.2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1999).

32

Under the competent, substantial evidence standard of review, the appellate court pays overwhelming deference to the trial court's ruling, reversing only when that ruling is not supported by competent and substantial evidence. If there is any evidence to support those factual findings, the lower court's findings will be affirmed. When it comes to facts, trial courts have an institutional advantage; they can observe witnesses, hear their testimony, and see/touch the evidence. <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998) (recognizing judge, sitting as fact finder, has superior vantage point).

Initially, the State must point out that Tumblin has not sufficiently pled his objection to the CCP instruction as given by the trial court. To the extent Tumblin fails to plead this point fully by identifying the error and any resulting harm, this Court should find the matter insufficiently pled. Failure to fully address an argument necessitates that the matter be deemed waived. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 856 So.2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990).

Further, the trial court gave the standard instruction for this aggravator to the jury without objection. [T:5470, 5518-19]. To preserve for review a challenge to a jury instruction, an objection must have been raised below or an alternate

instruction offered. <u>See San Martin v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997); <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1993). If an issue is not preserved, fundamental error must be shown. This Court should reject the matter as unpreserved. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

A review of the elements of the facts presented at trial support the instruction given and the finding of the CCP aggravator. This court has reasoned:

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